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KAUNO ENERGIJA AND THE BANK OF LITHUANIA

Pursuant to the provisions of the Republic of Lithuania Law on Securities and the Information Disclosure
Rules approved by the Board of the Bank of Lithuania, we, Tomas Garasimavi€ius, Director General of AB
Kauno energija, Virgilijus Motiejlinas, Financial director and Ramuné Petkevitiené, Head of Financial
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interim financial statements for the 6 months of 2024, prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards adopted for application in the European Union, corresponds to reality and correctly
shows the company's assets, liabilities, financial condition, profit (loss) and cash flows.

Tomas Garasimavicius

Director Gen%; <

Virgilijus Motiejunas

Director of Finance

Ramuné Petkeviciené /j /
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AB KAUN Company code 235014830 Set of consolidated and company financial
UNGENEROMA Raudondvario pl. 84 statements of 6 months of 2024
Kaunas, Lithuania (in thousands euro, unless specified otherwise)

CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Group Company

Notes 2024-06-30 2023-12-31 2024-06-30 2023-12-31
ASSETS
Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets 6 204 249 196 241
Land and buildings 6111 6 201 6 042 6122
Buildings 143 329 134 610 143 329 134 610
Machinery and equipment 13 552 13 824 13 528 13779
Vehicles 907 975 872 975
Plant and tools 4939 3263 4 894 3217

. = d

Ef;lﬂ;”rﬁiﬁ&s ih:progress.an 17 198 23 483 17 277 23 483
Investment property 1073 1114 - -
Total property, plant and equipment 187 109 183 470 185 942 182 186
a:ssjets managed under the right of 1093 1083 927 916
Non-current financial assets
Investments in subsidiaries - - 2763 2763
Amounts receivable after one year 129 128 - -
Other financial assets 75 75 75 75
Financial fixed assets, total 203 203 2 838 2 838
Non-current assets, total 186 610 185 005 189 903 186 181
Current assets
Stock and prepayments
Inventories 7 1694 1777 1275 1429
Prepayments 985 1019 13 942
Total inventories and prepayments 2679 2796 2188 2371
Amounts receivable within one year
Term deposits - - -
Trade receivables 8 3296 14 437 3113 13 621
Loans to the companies of the group of ) ) ) _
companies
Other amounts receivable 9 408 2755 379 2757
ar:':lzunts receivable within one year, 3704 17 192 3492 16 378
Cash and cash equivalents 12 12 463 8 547 10 733 7 315
Current assets, total 18 846 28 535 16 413 26 064
Assets, total: 207 456 213 540 206 316 212 245

(continued on the next page)



ENE Company code 235014830 Set of consolidated and company financial
ABRAUNO REWA Raudondvario pl. 84 statements of 6 months of 2024
Kaunas, Lithuania (in thousands euro, unless specified otherwise)

CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Group Company

Notes 2024-06-30 2023-12-31 2024-06-30 2023-12-31
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Property
Capital 74 476 74 476 74 476 74 476
Legal reserve 13 7 447 7 447 7 447 7 447
Other reserves 13 75 50 75 50
Profit (loss) available for distribution
Current year profit 5 506 4 505 5411 3 881
Profit (loss) of the previous years 15 546 11128 14 725 10 869
Total retained profit (loss) 21 052 15 633 20779 14 750
Total equity 103 050 97 606 102 134 96 723
Non-current amounts payable after
one year and liabilities
Long-term financial debts 10 54 736 54 736 54 736 54 736
Lease (financial lease) 1143 1121 971 950
Deferred profit tax liabilities 6 517 6516 6 517 6516
Grants and subsidies 30038 30 850 30038 30 850
Employee benefit liabilities 385 385 365 365
Other provisions - - - -
i B lorm MblKee, ot 92819 93608 92627 93417
Accounts payable within one year
of and other liabilities
Current year's share of long-term
financial debt and leasing/financial 10 2 049 3269 2047 3265
leases
Short-term financial debts - - - -
Trade debtors 3916 14 105 4 081 14 136
Payroll related liabilities 1325 715 1264 701
Received prepayments 1028 840 1003 815
Tax payable 159 804 82 612
Derivative financial instruments - - 5 »
Other provisions 11 2 347 1652 2 347 1652
gg::ig:jzd costs and income of future 439 440 418 425
ggzﬁ{asb?ﬁ;;erm amounts payable 170 338 160 337
ns  mus sz
(oL Reccuinte; pavaseEnd 104 406 115 934 104 182 115 522
Total equity and liabilities 207 456 213 540 206 316 212 245

(end)

The notes below form an integral part of these financial statements.



AB KAUNO ENERGIJA 4
Raudondvario pl. 84

Kaunas, Lithuania

CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENT OF PROFIT (LOSS) AND OTHER GROSS

INCOME

Group

Comments

Operating income

Sales revenue

Other operational incomes
Total operating income
Operating expenses

Fuel and purchased energy
Salaries, social insurance
Depreciation and amortisation
Repair and maintenance
Change in impairment of receivables
Taxes, other than income tax
Electricity

Raw materials and materials
Water

Change in realisable value of inventories and
impairment of fixed assets

Other costs

Other operational expenses
Operating expenses, total
Operating profit (loss)

Other interest and similar income

Value impairment of financial assets and short-term
investment

Interest and other similar costs

Income from financing and investment
activities, net value

Profit before taxation

Income tax

Deferred income tax income (loss)

Profit for the reporting period

Termination benefits (accrual), other provisions to

be reclassified to profit or loss when certain
conditions are met

Gross income

Profit for the period attributable to the
Company's shareholders

Gross income attributable to the Company's
shareholders

Earnings per share (EUR)

Company code 235014830

14
16

15
16

17

Set of consolidated and company financial
statements of 6 months of 2024
(in thousands euro, unless specified otherwise)

30 June 30 June

2024 2023 from

2024 11 from the 202311 the
quarter  beginnin quarter beginning

g of the of the

year year
12 394 49 214 8 420 51317
168 729 184 461
12 562 49 943 8 604 51778
(5 798) (27 825) (4 052) (32 695)
(2 420) (4 860) (2 222) (4 339)
(1833) (3 582) (1 700) (3 335)
(157) (285) (221) (356)
(334) (335) 501 494
(759) (1235) (730) (11986)
(263) (958) (230) (852)
(1 485) (1 553) (709) (992)
(522) (1124) (508) (963)
(97) (112) 96 52
(591) (1102) (615) (1 308)
(101) (263) (86) (251)
(14 360) (43 234) (10 474) (45 741)
(1798) 6709 (1870) 6 037
117 287 171 455
(459) (885) (336) (607)
(342) (598) (165) (152)
(2 140) 6 111 (2 035) 5 885
91 N - -
(2 049) 6 202 (2 035) 5885
(696) (696) (1883) (1883)
(2 745) 5 506 (3918) 4002
(2 049) 6 202 (2 035) 5885
(2 745) 5 506 (3918) 4002
(0,06) 0,13 (0,09) 0,09



AB KAUNO ENERGIJA Company che 235014830
Raudondvario pl. 84
Kaunas, Lithuania

Set of consolidated and company financial
statements of 6 months of 2024
(in thousands euro, unless specified otherwise)

CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENT OF PROFIT (LOSS) AND OTHER GROSS

INCOME

Compan

g oy imiime amsiom

GumERnts quarter b t.he . qul?télr beg::?iing
eginning of the
of the year year

Operating income
Sales revenue 14 10 684 47 504 8 291 51100
Other operational incomes 16 486 835 136 337
Total operating income 11170 48 339 8 427 51 437
Operating expenses
Fuel and purchased energy (5 806) (27 833) (4771) (33 414)
Salaries, social insurance (2 278) (4 588) (2 094) (4 143)
Depreciation and amortisation (1832) (3 566) (1 665) (3271)
Repair and maintenance (153) (276) (219) (354)
Change in impairment of receivables (318) (317) 501 494
Taxes, other than income tax (754) (1 225) (723) (1179)
Electricity (267) (962) (230) (852)
Raw materials and materials (157) (301) (191) (374)
Water (522) (1124) (507) (963)
Bl ool 7 en 1) % 52
Other costs 15 (569) (1108) (611) (1 399)
Other operational expenses 16 (139) (301) (86) (258)
Operating expenses, total (12 892) (41713) (10 500) (45 661)
Operating profit (loss) (1722) 6 626 (2 073) 5776
Other interest and similar income 106 275 171 455
Value impairment of financial assets and short-term : ) ) )
investment
Interest and other similar costs (459) (885) (336) (602)
Lnetic:rn;ﬁ‘:rom financing and investment activities, (353) (610) (165) (147)
Profit before taxation (2 075) 6016 (2 238) 5629
Income tax 91 91 - -
Deferred income tax income (loss) - - - -
Profit for the reporting period (1 984) 6107 (2 238) 5629
Termination benefits (accrual), other provisions to be
reclassified to profit or loss when certain conditions (696) (6986) (1883) (1 883)
are met
Gross income (2 680) 5411 (4121) 3746
Earnings per share (EUR) 16 (0,06) 0,13 (0,10) 0,09

The notes below form an integral part of these financial statements.



AB KAUNO ENERGIJA

Company code 235014830
Raudondvario pl. 84

Kaunas, Lithuania

Set of consolidated and company financial

statements of 6 months of 2024

(in thousands euro, unless specified otherwise)

CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Group

Balance as at 31 December
2022

Formed reserves

Reversed reserves
Dividends

Profit for the reporting period

Other gross income

Balance as at 31 December
2023

Formed reserves

Reversed reserves
Dividends

Profit for the reporting period
Other gross income

Balance as at 30 June 2024

Company

Balance as at 31 December
2022

Formed reserves

Reversed reserves
Dividends

Profit for the reporting period

Other gross income

Balance as at 31 December
2023

Formed reserves

Reversed reserves
Dividends

Profit for the reporting period
Other gross income

Balance as at 30 June 2024

The notes below form an integral part of these financial statements.

Profit (loss)

Notes  Capital Legal reserve Other available for Total
reserves e
distribution

74 476 7 447 3 000 11 178 96 101
- s 50 (50) -

- B (3 000) 3000 -

- - - (3 000) (3 000)

- - - 6 078 6078

. = " (1573)  (1573)

74 476 7 447 50 15 633 97 606
- - 75 (75) -

= - (50) 50 -

2 - : 6 202 6202

- - - (758) (758)

74 476 7 447 75 21052 103 050

Other Profit (loss)
Notes  Capital Legal reserve available for Total
reserves SRR
distribution

74 476 7 447 3 000 10919 95 842
- - 50 (50) -

- - (3 000) 3000 -

- - - (3 000) (3 000)

. - - 5 454 5 454

- - % (1573) (1573)

74 476 7 447 50 14750 96 723
- “ 75 (79) i

- - (50) 50 -

- - - 6 107 6107

- - - (696) (696)

74 476 7 447 75 20136 102134




AB KAUNO ENERGIJA Company code 235014830 Set of consolidated and company financial
Raudondvario pl. 84 statements of 6 months of 2024
Kaunas, Lithuania (in thousands euro, unless specified otherwise)

CONDENSED INTERIM CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

Group Company

Notes 2024y 2023y 2024y 2023 y
Cash flows from (to) operating activities
Gross income 5 506 4002 5411 3746
Adjustments to non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation 4 564 4 268 4 579 4263
Grants and subsidies (amortisation) (779) (768) (779) (494)
Write-offs and changes in impairment of
receivables 318 (494) 318 (768)
Results transferred to the tangible fixed assets 1593 1499
Loss (gain) on sale and write-down of fixed
assets and value of shares ) 1% = (14)
Change in realisable value of inventories and
impairment of fixed assets e 52) = 52
Change in employee benefits liability (9) (39) (9) (39)
Change in lease liability (20) - (20)
Amortization of rights to property 10 10
Changes in other non — monetary items - (76)
Change in accumulations (7) 59 ) 24
Change in provision liabilities 695 1883 695 1883
Elimination of financial and investment 610 152 610 147
perfomance
Adjustment to total non-cash items 7184 4919 7105 4 950
Changes of working capital: 2
Decrease (increase) in inventories 83 (35) 154 523
Decrease (increase) in prepayments 34 38 29 (128)
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables 10 823 15 180 10 508 15109
Decrease (increase) in other amounts
recaahla 2 347 2817 2378 2807
Increase (decrease) in long-term trade debts - -
Increase (decrease) in trade debtors (10 189) (13 075) (10373) (13 110)
Decrease (increase) in liabilities related to
employment relations 910 .o f62 Gl
Increase (decrease) in taxes payable (645) (438) (530) (394)
Decrease (increase) in received prepayments 188 491 188 478
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities (168) 128 (177) (94)
Changes in total working capital 3083 5 560 2740 5810
Net cash flows from operating activities 15773 14 481 15 256 14 506

(continued on the next page)



Company code 235014830 Set of consolidated and company financial
ABKAUNOENERGEIA Raudondvario pl. 84 statements of 6 months of 2024
Kaunas, Lithuania (in thousands euro, unless specified otherwise)

CONDENSED INTERIM CASH FLOW STATEMENTS (continued)

Group Company

Notes 2024y 2023y 2024 y 2023y
Cash flows from (to) investing activities
Acquisition of intangible fixed assets and property,
plant and equipment (9613) (7 097) (9 582) (7 090)
Sale of property, plant and equipment 2 3235 2 288
Interest received on overdue receivables 287 - 275 -
Acquisition of investments, change in value - (5 000) - (5 000)
Net (used) cash flows from investing activities (9 324) (11 774) (9 305) (11 802)
Cash flows from (to) financing activities
Loans received - - - -
Loans repaid (1212) (1 096) (1212) (1 096)
Interest paid (1321) (664) (1321) (664)
Rent payments = - - -
Dividend paid - (3 000) - (3 000)
Subsidy received - 149 - 149
Net cash flows from (used in) financing (2 533) (4 611) (2 533) (4 611)
activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash flows 3916 (1904) 3418 (1907)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 8 547 5 550 7315 4891
the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 12 463 3 646 10 733 2984
period

(end)

The notes below form an integral part of these financial statements.



ENERGIJA Company code 235014830 Set of consolidated and company financial
AR KAEND Bk Raudondvario pl. 84 statements of 6 months of 2024
Kaunas, Lithuania (in thousands euro, unless specified otherwise)

NOTES TO THE CONDENSED SET OF INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. General information

AB Kauno Energija (hereinafter referred to as the Company) is a public limited liability company registered in
the Republic of Lithuania. Its registered office address is Raudondvario pl. 84, Kaunas, Lithuania. Data about
the Company is collected and stored in the Registry of Legal Entities.

The Company is engaged in the supply of heat and hot water, production and sale of electricity and
maintenance of collector-tunnels.

maintenance of collectors-tunnels. The Company also provides heating system maintenance services. The
Company was registered on 1 July 1997 following the reorganisation of AB Lietuvos Energija. The company
code 235014830. The Company's shares are traded on the Baltic Additional Trading List of the Nasdaq Vilnius
Stock Exchange.

As at 30 June 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Company's shareholders were:

2024-06-30 2023-12-31
Number of held Ownership Number of held
shares, units (%) shares, units Ownership (%)
Kaunas city municipality 39.736.058 92,84 39.736.058 92,84
Kaunas district municipality 1.606.168 3.75 1.606.168 3,75
Jurbarkas district municipality 746.405 1,74 746.405 1,74
Other minor shareholders 713.512 1,67 713.512 1,67
42.802.143 100,00 42.802.143 100,00

The Company's authorised capital is equal to EUR 74,475,728.82 and is divided into 42,802,143 ordinary
shares with a nominal value of EUR 1.74 each. As at 30 June 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Company
had no own shares. As at 30 June 2024 and 31 December 2023, all shares were fully paid up.

On 30 June 2024, the Company and its subsidiary UAB GO Energy LT form a group (the Group):

Corlnpany, Group's Cost of Retained Lagal : Main
registered X . reserve Equity .
; shareholding investment profit (loss) activities

office address

Innovative
UAB GO energy
Energy LT,  4o0percent 2763 1006 57 3826 projects,
Raudondvario

consultancy,
pl. 84, Kaunas

rental

The Company and the Group also own 22% interest in UAB Kauno miesto paslaugy centras. The cost of the
investment is EUR 75 thousand (the amount of the investment is included under 'Other financial assets').

The Group's average number of listed employees during the reporting period was 367 and the Company's
average number of listed employees was 338.

Legal regulation

Pursuant to the Law of the Republic of Lithuania on the Heat Sector, the Company's activities are licensed and

regulated by the State Energy Regulatory Council (hereinafter referred to as the Council). On 26 February 2004

the Council granted the Company a heat supply licence. The licence is valid for an unlimited period, but may be

revoked by an appropriate decision of the Council depending on compliance with certain conditions. The Council

also sets price caps for the supply of heat. 13 September 2018 By Resolution No. O3E-283, the Council

established for the Company the components of the basic heat price, which were valid until March 31, 2024.
10



AB KAUN GIJA Company code 235014830 Set of consolidated and company financial
MHO:ENES, Raudondvario pl. 84 statements of 6 months of 2024
Kaunas, Lithuania (in thousands euro, unless specified otherwise)

General information (continued)

As of 1 April 2024, new heat prices came into force, calculated in accordance with the level of heat production

and supply revenues unilaterally established by the Council Resolution of 23 February 2024 by AB "Kauno
energija".

Economic activities

The Company's production capacities consist of the Petrasilinai power plant, 5 boiler houses in Kaunas
integrated network, 7 regional boiler houses in Kaunas district, 1 in Jurbarkas, 14 isolated network and 26 local
(household) boiler houses in Kaunas city, as well as 8 boiler houses for water heating in Sargénai district.

The total installed thermal capacity of the Company is approximately 596 MW (of which 53 MW are condensing
economizers), electrical, 8.76 MW, including 220 MW thermal capacity of the Petrasitinai power plant (of which
17.8 MW is condensing economizer) and 8 MW electrical capacity, in Jurbarkas 39.4 MW thermal capacity
(including 4.4 MW - a condensing economizer). The total power generation capacity of the Company as a whole
is approximately 605 MW (of which 53 MW are condensing economizers).

The Company makes investments based on an assessment of the economic situation, the competitive
environment and the availability of financing. Investment plans are approved by the shareholders and
coordinated by the Council.

2. Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The condensed interim financial statements of the Company and the Group for the six-month period
ended 30 June 2024 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union (hereinafter the IFRSs) as applicable to interim financial reporting (International
Accounting Standard (IAS) 34 "Interim Financial Reporting"). These financial statements do not include all the
information necessary for the preparation of the full set of consolidated and separate financial statements.
However, selected notes are included to explain events and transactions and to provide an understanding of
significant changes in the Group's and the Company's financial position and financial performance.

All accounting principles applied in the preparation of the condensed interim financial information are the same
as those applied in the preparation of the annual financial statements for 2023.

The new standards and amendments effective from 1 January 2024 have no material impact on the Group's
and Company's financial statements.

The currency of the submission is the euro. These statements are presented in thousands of euro, unless
otherwise stated.

The Company's financial year coincides with the calendar year.

The management of the Company has approved the following interim financial statements as at 08 August 2024.

3. Application of assessments in preparation of financial statements

In preparing financial statements in accordance with IFRSs adopted for application in the EU, management
shall make calculations and estimates of assumptions that affect the application of accounting principles and
of amounts related to assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and related assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are consistent with current conditions and the results of
which lead to conclusions about the residual values of assets and liabilities that are not available from other
sources. The actual results could differ from the estimates. The estimates and related assumptions are kept
under constant review. Adjustments to estimates are recognised prospectively.

The key assumptions and other significant sources of estimation uncertainty at the date of the interim
statements of financial position that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets or liabilities within the next financial year are the same as those described in the most
recent set of annual separate and consolidated financial statements.

11



AB KAUN Company code 235014830 Set of consolidated and company financial
UND ENEREHA Raudondvario pl. 84 statements of 6 months of 2024
Kaunas, Lithuania (in thousands euro, unless specified otherwise)

4. Definition of lease

Until 1 January 2019 the Group and the Company determined at the time of signing the agreement whether the
agreement meets the definition of lease in accordance with IFRIC 4 "Determining Whether an Arrangement
Contains a Lease". From 1 January 2019, when an agreement is concluded, the determining whether an
arrangement contains a lease or includes a lease is based on the new definition. Under IFRS 16, A contract, or
part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

In evaluating or re-evaluating an agreement that contains a lease component, the Group and the Company
allocate the contractual consideration provided for in the agreement to each of the parts of the agreement that
have and do not have a lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. However, in the case
of leases of immovable property where the Group and the Company are lessees, the Group and the Company
have chosen not to separate the lease-free components and instead to account for the lease-free and lease-
containing components together as a single lease component.

The Group and the Company, as tenant, have previously classified the lease as an operating or finance lease
based on an assessment of whether the lease agreement essentially provides for the transfer of all risks and
rewards of ownership. The Group and the Company recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in lease
agreements in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 16. These leases are shown in the balance sheet.

Assets held under usufruct are presented by the Group and the Company under the item of assets held under
usufruct.

Recognised lease liabilities are presented in the statements of financial position under leasing (finance lease)
and long-term financial debts and leasing (finance lease) for the current year.

5. Measurement of fair value

At initial recognition, the transaction price of an acquired asset or a liability assumed in an exchange transaction
entered into for a particular asset or liability is the price paid at the time the asset is acquired or the liability is
assumed (the acquisition price). In comparison, the fair value of the asset or liability is the price that would be
obtained from the sale of the asset or paid for the disposal of the liability (the sale/transfer price).

If the Company initially measures an asset or liability at fair value and the transaction price differs from fair value,
the difference is recognised as a gain or loss unless otherwise specified in the IFRSs.

The fair value measurement is based on the assumption that a transaction for the sale of an asset or the disposal
of a liability will be carried out either:

- in the underlying market for the asset or liability, or
- in absence of a principal market, the most favourable market for the asset or liability in question.

Where observable variables that are directly observable by the Company are not available at the measurement
date, i.e. prices quoted (not adjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, fair value is determined
by reference to adjusted observable variables that are directly observable. Adjusted variables are:

prices quoted for similar assets or liabilities in active markets;

prices quoted for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active markets;
variables other than quoted prices observed for a specific asset or liability;

market-confirmed variables.

Where observable variables are not available (directly or indirectly), fair value shall be determined by reference
to unobservable variables that the Group and the Company produce using valuation techniques.

The fair value measurement of a non-financial asset shall take into account the ability of the market participant
to generate economic benefits by using the specific asset to its maximum and best value or by selling it to
another market participant that will use it to its maximum and best value.

The fair value of liability reflects the impact of inactivity risk. Inactivity risk includes, but is not limited to, the
entity's own credit risk. When determining the fair value of a liability, an entity shall assess the effects of its credit
risk (financial position) and other factors that may affect the likelihood that the liability will or will not be met.

12



AB KAUNO ENERGIJA Company code 235014830 Set of consolidated and company financial
Raudondvario pl. 84 statements of 6 months of 2024
Kaunas, Lithuania (in thousands euro, unless specified otherwise)

Measurement of fair value (continued)

The Group and the Company must increase the use of relevant observable variables and reduce the use of
unobservable variables in order to achieve the objective of fair value measurement by calculating the price at
which a liability or equity instrument would be transferred under a legally orderly transaction between market
participants at the valuation date in accordance with prevailing market conditions.

Assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in the statement of financial position, or for which fair
value is not determinable but for which disclosures are made, are classified by the Group and the Company in
accordance with the fair value hierarchy, which categorises variables into three levels depending on their
availability:

- Level 1 variables are quoted (unadjusted) prices for identical assets or liabilities in an active market
that are available to the Company at the date of valuation;

- Level 2 variables are variables, other than quoted prices which are classified as Level 1, that are
observable directly or indirectly for a specific asset or liability;

- Level 3 variables are unobserved variables applied to a specific asset or liability.

When the variables used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability may be classified in different levels of
the fair value hierarchy, the entire fair value measurement result is classified in the same level of the fair value
hierarchy as the lowest level variable that is significant to the entire measurement.

6. Property, plant and equipment

During the first half of 2024, acquisitions of fixed tangible assets of the Group and the Company amounted to
EUR 9,634 thousand EUR and 9,582 thousand EUR. The residual value of the sold-written-off tangible fixed
assets amounted to EUR 97 thousand EUR and 97 thousand EUR. The cost of the acquired property includes
all expenses related to the construction, purchase and materials of the property, including 1,593 thousand
EUR of capitalized interest and other common costs.

Depreciation costs of real estate, equipment and equipment of the Group and the Company in the first half
2024 consists of 4, 584 thousand EUR and 4,509 thousand EUR. The amounts of the depreciation expenses
of the Group and the Company were included in the operating expenses in the Profit and Loss and Other
Gross Income statements in the depreciation and amortization, and other expenses lines. Part of the cost of
depreciation - 779 thousand EUR (both the group and the companies) was covered by the grant amounts
received.

The management of the Group and the Company, having assessed the internal and external signs, in the first
half of 2024, it did not find a significant additional decrease in the value of real estate, equipment and
equipment.

Part of the Group's real estate, equipment and equipment, the acquisition value of which for the state as of 30
June 2024 was equal to 34,156 thousand EUR (as of 31 December 2023 — 34,694 thousand EUR),
companies — 34,156 thousand EUR was completely depreciated (34,694 thousand EUR as of 31 December
2023), but is still used in activities.

As of 30 June 2024 and 31 December 2023 The Group and the Company's majority of the construction in
progress consists of reconstruction and overhaul of boiler houses and heat supply networks.

As of 30 June 2024, real estate, equipment and equipment, the residual value of which was equal to the
Group's 8,548 thousand EUR (as of 31 December 2023 — 8,548 thousand EUR), and companies - 8,548
thousand EUR (as of 31 December 2023 - 8,548 thousand EUR), was pledged to banks as collateral for
loans.

13



AB KAUNO ENERGIJA

Company code 235014830
Raudondvario pl. 84
Kaunas, Lithuania

Set of consolidated and company financial
statements of 6 months of 2024
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7. Inventories

Group Company

2024-06-30 2023-12-31 2024-06-30 2023-12-31
Technological fuels 966 1162 966 1162
Spare parts 800 731 381 383
Materials 385 333 385 333

2151 2226 1732 1878
To be deducted: write-down to net
realisable value at the end of the (457) (449) (457) (449)
period
Carrying amount of inventories 1694 1777 1275 1429

The depreciation of the inventories of the Group and the Company to the net potential realizable value as of
30 June 2024 amounted to EUR 457 thousand (as of 31 December 2023, EUR 449 thousand). Change in the
depreciation of inventories to net potential realizable value in 2024 and 2023 in the Group's and the
Company's Income and Other Gross Income Accounts are included in the cost item of the change in the
realization cost of inventories.

8. Amounts receivable from buyers

Group Company

2024-06-30 2023-12-31 2024-06-30 2023-12-31
Trade receivables 7 967 18 799 7768 17 943
;Lzsb:Sdeducted: expected credit (4 671) (4 362) (4 655) (4 322)

3 296 14 437 3113 13 621

Change in impairment of doubtful receivables as of 30 June 2024 and 31 December 2023 in the Group's and
the Company's Statements of Profit and Loss and Other Gross Income included in the item of impairment
charges on receivables. Impairment of doubtful receivables is measured at expected credit losses.

The amounts receivable by the Group and the Companies from buyers are interest-free and, as a rule, their
due date is 30 days or agreed individually.

9. Other receivables

Group Company

2024-06-30 2023-12-31 2024-06-30 2023-12-31
Refundable taxes 395 817 365 817
Other receivables 275 2913 275 2215
;I;c; El'}:sdeducted: expected credit (262) (275) (262) (275)

408 2755 378 2757
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As of 30 June 2024 and 31 December 2023 Other receivables of the Group and the Company consisted of
state taxes receivable, municipal debt for compensation to low-income families, receivables for the sale of
stocks (scrap metal, installations of heating systems), and services rendered (manifold maintenance, etc.).

The Group's and the Company's other receivables are interest-free and usually have a maturity of 30-45 days.
For unmatured receivables, a decrease in value is not calculated, since in the opinion of management there is
no indication that borrowers will not be able to fulfill their obligations.

Credit risk

The Group and the Company are not exposed to significant concentrations of credit risk as they deal with a
large number of customers.

10. Financial debts

All loans of the Group and the Company are accounted for and repaid in euro. The weighted average
(percentage) of the interest rate on outstanding loans as of 30 June 2024 and 31 December 2023 was as
follows:

Group Company
2024-06-30 2023-12-31 2024-06-30 2023-12-31
Short-term - - E -
Long-term 4,29 4,41 429 4,41
Repayment terms of long-term loans:
Group Company
2024-06-30 2023-12-31 2024-06-30 2023-12-31
Long-term financial debts (loans): 54 736 54 736 54 736 54 736
Payable between 2 and 5 years 22 506 22 506 22 506 22 508
Payable after 5 years 32 230 32 230 32 230 32 230
Current portion of long-term loans 2 041 3231 2 041 3231
56 777 57 967 56 777 57 967

As of 30 June 2024 in the statement of financial standing, the Group and the Company have recorded interest
payable to financial institutions under long-term financial debts amounted to EUR 206 thousand and EUR 206
thousand respectively.

Details of the Group’s and Company's loans as of 30 June 2024:

Balance as of To be repaid

Amount,
Credit institution Date of contract :Ehl?;sands Maturity f:::;g?;gg n :::352:;‘ d
EUR EUR

1 EIB*™ 2020-08-07 15 000 2035-08-24 11 250 500
2 EIB* 2020-08-07 12 000 2036-08-18 11 094 453
3 EIB*™ 2020-08-07 14 000 2037-08-22 14 000 528
4 EIB* 2020-08-07 14 000 2038-09-29 14 000 0

5 Min. of Finance* 2010-10-26 807 2034-03-15 385 0

6 Min. of Finance* 2010-04-09 2410 2034-03-15 936 0

7  Min. of Finance* 2014-01-15 793 2034-12-01 458 42

8 Min. of Finance* 2014-03-31 7 881 2034-12-01 4 549 413
9 AB SEB bankas 2016-12-22 1157 2024-11-30 105 105
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56 777 2 041

Financial debts (continued)
* Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania; ** European Investment Bank.

AB SEB Bankas has determined that the Company must comply with the net financial debt to EBITDA ratio
set for the quarter, which must not exceed 4.5. Under the loan agreements, the Company's equity ratio (total
equity/total assets) must be at least 35%. The European Investment Bank's requirements also stipulate that
the Company must comply with both of these indicators. As at 30 June 2024, the Company has met its
indicators.

Loan agreements contain certain restrictions. The Company may not grant dividends, issue and/or obtain new
loans, make grants, sell or lease mortgaged assets without the written consent of the banks.

On 26 March 2024, the Company entered into a credit agreement with AB SEB Bankas for the financing of the
working capital, under which the overdraft limit of EUR 5 million for a period of 12 months was approved. As at
the date of the financial statements, the amount of the overdraft limit has not been used.

11. Other provisions

As at 31 December 2023, the Company has made a provision of EUR 1,573 thousand to cover the differences
in the actual cost of electricity, purchased heat, fuel and production included in the price of heat sold and
actually incurred, i.e. to cover future price reduction liabilities. On June 30, 2024, the company additionally
formed a provision for 696 thousand EUR. The total provision formed as of 30 June 2024 amounted to EUR
2,347 thousand.

12. Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company

2024-06-30 2023-12-31 2024-06-30 2023-12-31
Cash on the road 285 700 285 700
Cash in the bank 12178 7 847 10 448 6615

12 463 8 547 10733 7315

Group bank accounts with a balance of EUR 1004 thousand on 30 June 2024 (EUR 1,073 thousand on 31
December 2023) and the Company's EUR 1,004 thousand (on 31 December 2023: EUR 1,073 thousand) are
pledged to banks as collateral for the loan.

13. Changes in equity

Statutory reserve and other reserves

The statutory reserve is required under the legislation of the Republic of Lithuania. At least 5% of net profits,
calculated in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, must be transferred to the reserve
annually until it reaches 10% of the authorised capital. The statutory reserve may not be distributed as
dividends but can be used to cover future losses.
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14. Sales income

The Group and the Company are engaged in the supply of heat energy and hot water, maintenance of
building heating and hot water supply systems, electricity generation, and other activities. These activities are
closely interlinked and, for management purposes, the Group and the Company are considered to be
organised in a single segment — the supply of heat energy.

The Group's and the Company's activities are seasonal, with the majority of revenue generated during the
heating season, which starts in October and ends in April.

Sales revenues by the Group and the Company activities are presented below:

Group Company

30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June

2024 from 2023 from 2024 from 2023 from

the the the the

beginning  beginning beginning beginning

of the of the of the of the

year year year year
Heat supply 43 831 47 804 43 838 47 803
Hot water supply 3162 2843 3162 2 844
Maintenance of hot water metering devices 2043 483 326 265
Maintenance of collectors 174 174 174 175
Maintenance of heating and hot water systems in buildings 4 10 4 10
Cooling supply - 3 - 3
Sale of tradable emission allowances R B - -

49 214 51 317 47 504 51 100

Sales revenues by consumer groups of the Group and the Company are presented below:

Group Company

30 June 30 June 30 June

2024 from 2023 from onrin

the the the from the

beginning beginning oy beginnin

of the of the beglunte . giofthe

year year Y year
Residents 34 934 37 597 34 934 37 597
Other users 5591 5 851 5591 5 851
Budgetary organisations financed from the state budget 3319 3521 3319 3 521
Budgetary organisations financed from municipal budgets 2128 2440 2128 2440
Institutions financed by territorial sickness funds 1226 1333 1226 1333
Industrial users 2016 575 306 358

49 214 51 317 47 504 51100
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15. Other costs
Other costs include:
Group Company
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2024 from 2023 from 2024 from 2023 from
:)r::ginning g:ae innin Ll';e innin the
ofthe  ofthe ~  ofthe ~ beginning
year year year
Equipment inspection and testing 133 156 76 127
Maintenance of collectors 182 181 182 181
Money collection costs 62 62 62 62
Ash recovery costs 76 113 76 113
Information Technologies costs 29 53 29 53
Consulting Services 64 136 64 136
Employee-related costs 62 57 62 57
Invoicing costs 56 56 56 56
Membership fee 43 55 43 55
Maintenance of fixed assets and related services 71 43 71 43
Transport costs 46 46 46 46
Debt collection costs 61 62 61 62
Insurance 53 57 53 57
Communication costs 38 30 38 30
Costs for advertising 15 15 15 15
Audit costs 35 27 35 27
Rental of equipment and machinery 22 32 22 32
Sponsorship - 117 - 117
Other costs 54 10 117 130
1102 1308 1108 1399

16. Other operating income and expense

Other operating income includes:

Group Company
30 June 30 June
2024 from  J0-UNe 30June 5454 from
3 from 2024 from
the the the e
beginning . S beginning
beginning beginning
of the of the year of the year of the
year Y y year
Other operational incomes
Inventories sold 458 80 458 80
Miscellaneous services rendered 160 227 266 103
Compensation received 8 15 8 15
Revenue from previous periods Z - - =
Profit from the sale of fixed assets 1 10 1 10
Other 102 129 102 129
729 461 835 337
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Other operating income and expense (continued)

Other operating expenses include:

Group Company
30 June 30 June
30 June 30 June
2024 from 2023 from f?“ o tzr?eza from
Other operational expenses the the rom

beginnin  beginning

beginning  beginning g of the of the

of the year  of the year

year year

Cost of miscellaneous services rendered (48) (108) (86) (113)

Inventories sold (92) (58) (92) (58)

Cost of previous periods (38) (34) (38) (34)

Sale of fixed assets, write-off (2) (3) (2) (3)

Other (83) (50) (83) (50)
(263) (251) (301) (258)

The Group and the Company lease real estate, supply technical water, perform maintenance of heating
equipment.

17. Basic and diluted earnings per share

The Group's basic and diluted earnings per share calculations are presented below:

Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

H1 H1 H1 H1
Profit for the reporting period 5 506 4002 5411 3746
Number of shares (thousands), beginning of period 42 802 42 802 42 802 42 802
Number of shares (thousands), end of period 42 802 42 802 42 802 42 802
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
(thousands) 42 802 42 802 42 802 42 802
Basic and diluted earnings per share (EUR) 0,13 0,09 0,13 0,09

18. Commitments and contingencies not included in the balance sheet

AB Kauno energija submitted a complaint to the Regional Administrative Court on 26.02.2024 against Council
Resolutions No O3E-141 "On the determination of the level of heat production and /or supply income of AB
Kauno energija for the first year of validity of the basic level of heat production and /or supply income", and on
23.02.2024 adopted Resolution No O3E-213 "On the unilateral determination of the level of heat production
and (or) supply income of AB Kauno Energija for the first year of validity of the basic level of heat production
and /or supply income for the first year of validity of the basic level of heat production and /or supply income"
cancellation of part. The amount of the complaint amounts to 2,587.50 thousand. Eur.
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19. Related party transactions

The parties are considered to be related if one party can control the other party or has significant influence over
the other party in making financial or operational decisions.

In 2024 and 2023, the Group and the Company did not have any significant transactions with other companies
controlled by Kaunas City Municipality, except for the purchase or provision of utility services. Transactions with
Kaunas City Municipality and companies controlled by Kaunas City Municipality were carried out at market
prices.

In 2024 and 2023, the Group's and the Company's transactions with Jurbarkas City Municipality, Kaunas City
Municipality and companies financed and controlled by Kaunas City Municipality, whereas their debts and
liabilities as at the end of the periods were as follows:

2024 | half Purchases Sales Amo.unts Angane
receivable payable

Kaunas City Municipality, companies

financed and fully managed by it 12! 4108 40 <

Jurbarkas district municipality 10 159 1 4

2023 | half Purchases  Sales AMopIS ANBHT
receivable payable

Kaunas City Municipality, companies

financed and fully managed by it B8 uois 263 48

Jurbarkas district municipality 9 175 1 4

Sales include the amounts of reimbursements for housing heating costs, cold water and sewage costs, and
hot water costs for financially challenged residents.

As of 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023 The company's transactions with subsidiaries and balance sheet
balances at the end of the period were as follows:

Amounts Amounts
UAB GO Energy LT Purchases Sales receivable payable
2024 | half 1256 113 18 556
2023 | half 67 772 9 228

UAB GO Energy LT provides real estate management services to AB Kauno Energija and participates in
unregulated energy development projects together with its parent company.
20. Management's salary and other benefits

On 30 June 2024, the Group's and the Company's management consists of 2 and 1 persons (2 and 1 on 31
December 2023), respectively.

As at 30 June 2024, the Company's Management Board consisted of 3 members and the Supervisory Board
consists of 3 members.

Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

I half | half | half I half
Wages and salaries charged to
the Ell'nan‘==.|gement ; 9% 82 30 e
The Board 52 40 52 40
The Supervisory Board 42 1 42 1

Reimbursements of employee
benefits calculated for the - - - -
management
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Management's salary and other benefits (continued)

During | half 2024 and | half 2023, there were no loans, guarantees, other disbursements or accruals to the
management of the Group and the Company, or transfers of assets.

21. Events after the date of the balance sheet

There have been no other events after the reporting date that could have a material effect on the financial
statements or that should be disclosed in the financial statements.
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Confirmation of the persons responsible for the shareholders of the Company and the Bank of
Lithuania

Following Article 23 of the Law on Securities of the Republic of Lithuania and the Rules for presentation and
delivery of periodic and additional formation, approved by the decision No O3-48 of February 28, 2013 of the
Board of the Bank of Lithuania, we hereby confirm that, to our best knowledge, the consolidated interim
report of the 1 half of the year 2024 of AB Kauno Energija (hereinafter — the Company or the Issuer) includes
a fair business development and performance review of the Company and the situation of consolidated
companies, together with the description of principal risks and uncertainties encountered.

Tomas Garasimaviéius
General Manager
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Chief Accountant ﬂ,/
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1. Reporting period of the Consolidated Semiannual Report

Reporting period for which the AB Kauno Energija Consolidated Semiannual Report has been prepared is
January 1, 2024 — June 30, 2024.

2. Companies consisting the Group of companies and their contact details

AB Kauno Energija (hereinafter — the Company or the Issuer) prepares both the Company’s and the
Consolidated Financial Statements. The group of companies (hereinafter referred to as the Group) consists
of AB Kauno Energija and its subsidiary — UAB GO Energy LT in which the Issuer directly controls 100 per

cent of the shares.

Main details of the Company:

Name of the Company:
Legal-organizational form:
Headquarters’ address
Code of legal entity:
Telephone

Fax

E-mail:

Webpage

Registration date and place
Register manager

VAT payer code

AB Kauno Energija

Public Limited Liability Company
Raudondvario av. 84, 47179 Kaunas
235014830

(8 37) 305 650

(8 37) 305 622

info@kaunoenergija.lt
www.kaunoenergija.lt

August 22, 1997, Kaunas, Order No 513
State Enterprise Centre of Registers Kaunas Branch
LT350148314

Main information about the subsidiaries:

Company name
Legal-organizational form
Headquarters’ address
Code of legal entity
Telephone

E-mail

Registration date and place
Register manager

UAB Go Energy LT

Limited Liability Company

Savanoriy pr. 347, 49423 Kaunas

303042623

(8 37) 305 693

info@goenergy.It

April 16, 2013, Kaunas

State Enterprise Centre of Registers Kaunas Branch
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3. Nature of core activities of the companies composing the group of companies

The nature of core activities of the Group is manufacture and rendering of services. The Company is the parent
company of the Group. The Company generates and supplies heat to consumers (for the purposes of heating
and hot water production) in the cities of Kaunas and Jurbarkas and in Kaunas district Akademija town, EZerélis
town, Domeikava village, Garliava town, Girionys village, Neveronys village, Raudondvaris village, (hereinafter
referred to as Kaunas district).

Also, following provisions of the Law on Heat Sector, the Company supplies hot water (is engaged in hot
domestic water supplier activities) from May 1, 2010 for consumers in the cities of Kaunas and Jurbarkas and
Kaunas district, who chose the Company as a hot water supplier. As of June 30, 2024, the Company supplied
hot water to 1032 residential buildings in Kaunas, Kaunas district and Jurbarkas city.

In addition, the Company maintains engineering structures (collectors — manifolds) and operates heat and
electricity production facilities. The Group and the Company carries out a supervision of indoor heat and hot
water supply systems, maintenance of heat unit equipment, repairs of heat units and other heating equipment,
provides premises rental services under agreements. The Group and the Company are engaged in licensed
activity in accordance with the licenses held. On February 26, 2004 the National Commission for Energy
Control and Prices (hereinafter — the Commission) issued a heat supplier licence to the Company. The licence
is valid indefinitely. Maintenance of indoor heat and hot water supply systems is pursued following the
provisions of Article 20 of The Law on Heat Sector of the Republic of Lithuania.

The vision of the Group and the Company is to be an innovative, competitive, and added value for shareholders
creating Company engaged in heat and cooling generation and their centralized supply, maintenance of indoor
heating and hot water systems.

Values of the Group and the Company:
¢ More than 50 years of experience in heat production and supply.
e Responsibility towards consumers for reliable heat and hot water supply.
e High qualification of employees allowing to reach the highest efficiency indicators.
o Ability to apply innovative solutions in everyday activities.

Strategic goals of the Group and the Company:
AB Kauno Energija is the most advanced and innovative district heating (hereinafter — DH) company in
Lithuania.

Principled guidelines of Company’s heat economy strategy are as follows:

e Increase of safety and reliability of heat supply — the Company intends to formulate an expert
assessment of safety / vulnerability of heat supply system, to implement update and modernization
of system of parameters data transfer, collection and evaluation, to implement optimization of the
network hydraulic mode and increase of speed of parameters reaction / change, to reconstruct and
optimize sections of termofication pipelines and elements, to implement update and development of
the system of DH network water reserve — emergency replenishment, to implement technical
solutions and / or use a good practice increasing reliability and safety, ensuring stability of
thermofication mode;

e to actively participate in formation of policy of Kaunas city supply with heat and in increase of
Company’s desirability and in expansion of district heating market.

o formation of good practice and its publicizing.

4. Issuer’s agreements with credit institutions

On September 13, 2018 the Issuer Service Agreement was signed with AB SEB Bankas (company code
112021238, Gedimino pr. 12, Vilnius).

5. Trade in securities of companies composing the Group of companies in regulated
markets

20,031,977 (twenty million thirty-one thousand nine hundred seventy-seven) of the Issuer’s ordinary
registered shares (VP ISIN code LT0000123010) with the total nominal value equal to EUR 34,855,639.98
(thirty-four million eight hundred fifty-five thousand six hundred thirty-nine euro and 98 cents) were listed in
the secondary trade list of Nasdaq Vilnius Baltic stock exchange as of June 30, 2024. The beginning of
listing of the Company’s shares is December 28, 1998.
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6. Overview of the condition, performance, and development of the Group of companies
6.1.Overview of the condition, performance, and development of the Group of companies

In 2024, the company's focus was on achieving its strategic objectives by providing innovative, efficient, safe,
economical, and sustainable heating solutions.

The company's financial and non-financial objectives are to ensure the safety and reliability of its core
activities; improve production efficiency; enhance the efficiency of the heat transmission system; improve
access to district heating; and utilize modern, innovative tools and methods for organizing and managing
heat supply and operations.

The "Development Strategy of AB Kauno energija for the period of 5 years, covering the years 2022—-2026,
by implementing the directions of development of the energy sector" was approved by the Company's
Supervisory Board on 11 July 2022. A summary of the strategy is available on the Company's website at a
specific address: https://www.kaunoenergija.lt/apie-bendrove.

The Company covers a major part of heat production and supply market in the cities of Kaunas and
Jurbarkas and Kaunas district. Company’s generation capacities consist of Petrasitnai power plant, 5 boiler-
houses in Kaunas integrated network, 7 district boiler-houses in Kaunas district, 1 boiler-house in Jurbarkas
city, 14 boiler-houses of isolated networks and 26 local gas burning boiler-houses in Kaunas city (25 of them
are gas burned and 1 of them — burned with pellets), also 8 local water heating boiler-houses in Sargénai
catchment. Total Company’s power generation capacity is 605 MW (including 53.02 MW of condensational
economizers’ capacities; 2.4 MW of absorption heat pump).

34 per cent of heat supplied to consumers in the 1 half of the year 2024 was produced in Company’s heat
production facilities. The rest of required quantity of heat was purchased from independent heat producers
(hereinafter — IHP) in monthly auctions, according to legal acts. Starting from May 2018 an electronic heat
purchasing auctions are arranged by the Energy Stock Exchange operator UAB Baltpool. Electronic auctions
are carried out in accordance with the Regulations of the Heat Auctions approved by the National Energy
Regulatory Council. The Schedule of the Procedure and Conditions for the Purchase of Heat from
Independent Heat Producers, the Methodology for Determining Heat Prices, the Rules for the Provision of
Information on Energy, Drinking Water Supply and Wastewater Treatment, Sewage and Surface Water
Treatment Companies, a Summary of Conditions of Usage of Heat Transfer Networks, and a schedule of the
Procedure for Publicly Disclosed Information were changed respectively.

Fuel used by the Company for heat production in the 1 half of the year 2024 is presented in Chart 1.
Chart 1

Fuel structure, per cent
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The Company purchased heat during the year 2024 from 10 IHP in Kaunas and Kaunas district as follows:
from UAB Kauno Termofikacijos Elektriné, UAB Idex Taika, UAB Idex Taika Elektriné, UAB Lorizon Energy,
UAB Ekoresursai, UAB Aldec General, UAB Idex Biruliskiy, UAB “Ekopartneris”, UAB Foksita and UAB
Kauno Kogeneracine Jegainé. Total purchases consisted of 533 thousand MWh of heat, i.e., 66 per cent of
heat supplied to the.
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Amounts of heat purchased from IHP and produced with Company’s equipment during the period of the 1
half of the years 2020—2024 are presented in chart 2, thousand MWh:

Chart 2
Heat purchase and production, thous. MWh
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The Company supplied this produced and purchased heat with integrated and local heat supply networks to
4,361 businesses and organizations as well as to 120,526 households, in total — to 124,887 consumers
(objects by addresses) as of June 30, 2024.

Chart 3

Repartition of Company's heat consumers by groups

3.49%
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Investments

Investments are made in accordance with Company’s investment plan for the year 2024, which has been
approved by decision No T-165 of Kaunas City Municipality Council of April 23, 2024 “Regarding investment
plan of AB Kauno Energija for the year 2024 and its financing” (hereinafter — Investment plan). The Company
makes investments based on an assessment of the economic situation, the competitive environment and the
availability of financing. Investment plans are approved by the Board of Directors and coordinated by the
Kaunas City Municipal Council.

The Company implements trunk pipeline replacement projects, optimizes pipeline diameters, connects new
objects to the DH network and modernises heat production facilities according to Investment plan.
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In 2024, the Company is undertaking projects in the Vilijampolé, PetrasSitnai, and Senamiestis districts, where
5 km of old pipelines have been renovated. Additionally, network expansion is being carried out in the Kaunas
Free Economic Sone (FES), Zemieji Sanciai, Panemuné, Dainava, Silainiai, and Raudondvaris districts, with
approximately 5.5 km of new pipelines being installed.

Two photovoltaic power plants, with capacities of 350 kW and 880 kW, are being developed. The electricity
generated by these solar photovoltaic plants will be used for heat transfer and production, thereby reducing
the costs associated with heat generation and distribution. The total value of these projects is EUR 1.49 million.

A project is being implemented at the PetraSitinai power plant to install a 334 kW Organic Rankine Cycle
(ORC) electricity generation unit, which will reduce heat production costs and emissions. The project value is
EUR 1.7 million.

A 1.7 MW absorption heat pump is being installed at the Silkas boiler house, along with the modernisation of
the flue gas cleaning system. The project value is EUR 2.9 million.

The Company successfully implemented an environmental protection investment project titled "Installation of
an Electrostatic Filter at the Nemunas Boiler House." This project was carried out with support from the
Environmental Project Management Agency (APVA), as allocated by Order No. V-203 of the Minister of the
Environment of the Republic of Lithuania of 6 December 2022 "On the Allocation of Funding for Projects
under the 2022 Funding Guidelines of the Lithuanian Environmental Protection Investment Fund
Programme". The electrostatic filter, made from steel sheets, is highly efficient (up to 99%) and capable of
capturing very small (€1 ym) solid particles in the filtered stream, while consuming minimal electricity. The
unit is equipped with an automated control system capable of real-time monitoring and managing the
processes of the device.

Company’s investments by funding sources of the 1 half of the years 2020-2024 are presented in Chart 4.

Chart 4
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6.2. Description of exposure to key risks and uncertainties the Company confront with and their
impact on activity results

External risk factors affecting the Company’s core business:

Increase in competition between heat producers in Kaunas.

Increase in final (i.e., including all expenditures) price of natural gas and biofuel.
Ever-changing legal environment.

Heat production pricing policies.
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Competition environment risk factors.

To operate effectively and reliably in creation the added value for shareholders, the Company is facing
threats specific to the sphere of its activity, but also takes advantage of opportunities to work efficiently and
effectively by exploiting the available potential. One of the biggest threats that the Company may face is a
relatively high price for heat purchased from IHP, who are ranked as private business units committed to
profit generation. Purchase of heat is pursued following valid law and the Description of procedure for
purchase of heat from independent suppliers of heat approved by NERC. In turn, the Company invests
extensively in modernization and construction of its own manufacturing facilities, to reduce the comparative
costs of heat production. Thus, it takes advantage of the regulatory environment and reduces the energy
purchase price.

Together with coming of new IHP the Company faced additional technical, economical, legal and other
issues that need to be solved: management of heat supply network and balancing of power of these
producers in case of emergency stop of them, retaining of optimum working parameters of the network,
regulation, change and applying of heat purchase from IHP order.

Commercial risk factors

The Company is a major supplier of the heat produced centrally to the city of Kaunas, part of Kaunas district
and the city of Jurbarkas. To retain this market, it is necessary to implement modern and efficient heat
production technologies in own production facilities and to focus on production at the lowest cost, benefiting
from private differences of different types of fuel.

Company’s heat sales are directly dependent on heat demand, i.e., heat consumption, which is mostly
affected by the average outdoor air temperature, the amount of investment of consumers in energy-saving
and rational use of heat and the pace of development of the heat sales.

Changes in fuel prices and the price of heat, produced by IHP have an impact on cost of Company’s heat
and electricity production.

Company’s performance is affected by the decrease in sales due to reduced and further decreasing heat
demand (in pursuance of residential buildings renovation and by installing a heat saving equipment), due to
consumer’s disconnections from DH network (due to the various reasons). Risks can be mitigated by
Company’s current and further investments in heat and electricity production facilities, using renewable
energy sources, reducing heat production expenditures as well as the price of heat supplied for consumers,
and continually reasonably informing customers on the benefits of DH network systems (safety, reliability,
correlation with one sort of fuel, fuel conversion, local pollution sources in residential areas, total
environmental pollution, etc.) in comparison with autonomous heating.

Operational risk

During the 1 half of the year 2024 consumers’ debts consisted of EUR 4.6 million (31 December , 2023 —
EUR 4.7 million). To recover these debts as soon as possible, the Company actively uses a variety of legal
debt management measures, such as pre-trial actions, judicial recovery, and cooperation with law
Companies. In addition, when a debt becomes big, a restriction of heat supplies is applied as a prevention
measure (if there are technical possibilities and according to the law).

On January 2, 2018 the Kaunas Unified Service Center “Mano Kaunas” started its operations in Statybininky
str. 3, Kaunas, at the premises of UAB Kauno Svara. Here residents can get immediate information /
consultation about Kaunas city services provided by municipality owned companies — AB Kauno Energija,
UAB Kauno Svara, UAB Kauno Autobusai, UAB Kauno Buty tkis, UAB Kauno Gatviy Ap3vietimas and UAB
Kauno Vandenys, as well as conclude contracts, pay invoices, requests, certificates, etc.

Activities of the Company are cyclical. During the heating season (October — April) a major operating income
is earned. During the non-heating season, the Company’s revenues are at their lowest since only heat for hot
water is used. In addition, during the non-heating season, the Company incurs more costs because it must
prepare for the upcoming heating season, i.e., to carry out the repairs and reconstruction of heat supply
networks and heat production facilities.
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Legal conformity risk

Energy activities are governed by the Law on Heat Sector, the Law on Energy, the Law on Electricity, the
Law on Natural Gas, the Law on Drinking Water Supply and Wastewater Management, Government
resolutions, Heat supply and consumption rules, Methodology of heat prices and payments for heat of NCC
and other legislation. Their amendments affect the heating industry.

With new amendments of articles 2, 3, 20, 22, 28, 31, and 32 of the Law on Heat Sector No XI-1608 of the
Republic of Lithuania that came in affect from November 1, 2011 in accordance with Article 7, the heat and
hot water prices may not include any costs related with the indoor building heating (including heat units), and
hot water systems. In implementing the legislation, from November 1, 2011 all these costs directly reduce the
profit of the Company.

Legal conformity risk is a risk of increase in losses and (or) loss of prestige, an (or) decrease in confidence,
which can be determined by the external environment factors (for example, violation of external legal acts,
non-compliance of requirements of supervising institutions, etc.) or internal factors (for example, violation of
internal legal acts and ethical standards, cases of employee’s abuse, etc.).

Technical and process factors

The biggest process risks are related to the condition of heating systems. Modernization rate of them is
determined by lack of funds — it is necessary to reconstruct more than 13.5 km of pipelines per year to
condition of age of heat supply system and the minimum investments should consist of approximately 6
million euros. Hydraulic testing identifies their weakest points. Every year, about 200 points where cracks
occur are identified during the tests. Upon discovery of defects, pipes are exposed and promptly repaired.

DH network is reconstructed in the most worn-out sections of district heating. New industrially (polyurethane
foam insulation in polyethylene shell) insulated pipes not requiring concrete channels are mounted in the
reconstructed sections of the heat supply network. Heat loss is very low in reconstructed sections (process
level), while the pipelines no longer pose a threat of rupture and ensure reliable heat supply to consumers.

One of the technical risk factors for heat generation facilities is their age. Some of heat generation facilities
are already renewed now. Every year boiler repairs, and preventive work is carried out during the non-
heating season. They are necessary to ensure secure heat supplies and reliability, i.e., securing of heat
production facilities and fuel reserves.

More detailed information on Company’s production facilities modernization is provided in chapters on
operations and development.

Ecological factors

With respect to the Company, they may be divided into those affecting the Company and affected by the
Company’s operations.

In order not to adversely impact the environment and comply with the pollution limits, vibration and noise
values, the Company is guided by the requirements of the Kyoto Protocol, the Helsinki Commission
(HELCOM) and environmental constraints of Helsinki Convention, as well as the European Parliament and
Council Directive 2001/80/EB of regulating energy emissions and Lithuanian environmental hormative
document LAND 43-2013 for the use of natural resources, and releases and emissions of air pollutants to the
environment in its activities. Main sources of pollution of the Company: burning fossil fuel in the Company's
heat sources, production of heat and wastewater used in the industrial processes.

The Company pays taxes for atmospheric and water pollution. If allowable emission rate limits or annual
limits are exceeded, the Company would pay the fines under the applicable laws of the Republic of
Lithuania. The Company was not imposed any penalties in the year 2024.

Main Company’s emission reduction measures: modernization of heat generation facilities, heat transfer loss
reduction by replacing the existing pipes with the pipes with polyurethane foam insulation, installation of new
technology and improvement of existing technological equipment, use of less polluting fuels, and continuous
emission monitoring.

Additional efforts by the company to reduce CO2 emissions:

10
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+ Green procurement. We choose suppliers not only on the basis of the price and the quality of goods,
services or works, but also on the basis of the reduced impact they have on the environment.

* The Company is currently implementing an environmental management system (ISO 14001:2015). It
assists in the systematic management of the direct and long-term environmental impact of the activities and
consistently addresses the relevant environmental issues of the Company. With this system in place, we will
be able to increase green procurement.

*  We are renewing our fleet of vehicles giving preference to electric and hybrid cars.

*  We sort waste generated in production and administrative activities and transfer it to waste managers in
accordance with the established procedure. We have also removed rubbish bins in the offices in the
administration building and dispose rubbish in the sorting bins in the common corridors. This encourages
employees to recycle and has reduced the amount of bins and bags (plastics) used.

» The company is taking the initiative to inform the public about energy-saving measures in order to reduce
air pollution. We regularly raise the awareness of the public by writing informative articles about renewable
energy sources, their benefits for nature and people, informing what modern technologies are used by our
company and how they contribute to climate change mitigation.

+ Employees of the Company are also encouraged to come to work with less polluting vehicles, to
cooperate as much as possible and to travel to work with a single vehicle for several colleagues.

7. Analysis of financial and non-financial performance results, information related to
environmental issues

Company’s sales revenue of the 1 half of the year 2024 was EUR 47,504 thousand and in comparison, with
the 1 half of the year 2023 decreased by 7 per cent (in the 1 half of the year 2023 it consisted of EUR 51,100
thousand). Sales revenue of the Group of the 1 half of the year 2024 was EUR 49,214 thousand (in the 1
half of the year 2023 it consisted of EUR 51,317 thousand).

The average price of heat sold decreased by 14 percent (in the 1 half of the year 2024 it was 6.59 ct/kWh,
and in the 1 half of the year 2023 — 7.66 ct/kWh).

Comparison of financial indicators of the Group of the 1 half of the year 2024 with the indicators of the years
2020-2023 is presented in Table 1.

Table 1
No Indicator of the Grou 1halfof 1halfof 1halfof 1halfof 1 halfof
P 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
1 Revenue from sales, thousand euros 25,247 27,093 43,825 51,317 49,214
2 Profit, thousand euros 198 5,138 2,614 4,002 5,506
EBITDA (earnings before interest,
3 taxes, depreciation and amorpzatlon 4.322 8.883 5765 8.826 10,738
and other non-cash expense items),
thousand euros
Profitability of core business, per cent
4 (operating profit / sales and services) * -0.4 7.4 4.4 11.8 13.6
100
5 Net pr0f|tabl|lt¥, per cent (net profit / 07 19.0 6.0 78 11.2
sales and services) *100
6 Assets, thousand euros 151,076 165,126 179,067 192,126 207,456
7 Equity, thousand euros 90,023 94,811 93,574 97,103 103,050
Return on equity (ROE), per cent
8 (net profit / average equity) *100 02 6.0 29 31 55
Return on assets (ROA), per cent
9 (net profit / average assets) *100 0.1 3.4 1.6 23 2.6
10 Debit ratio (liabilities /assets) 0.41 0.43 0.29 0.33 0.36
11 Debt-to-equity ratio (liabilities / equity) 0.7 0,7 0.6 0.5 0.7
12 General liquidity ratio (short-term 0.91 124 163 176 163

assets / short-term liabilities)
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1 half of 1 half of 1 half of 1 half of 1 half of

N EIEERET &7 e o 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
13 Quickratio ((short-term assets- 0.76 1.07 1.48 1.53 1.48
inventory) / short-term liabilities)
Net earnings per share (net profit /
14  average weighted number of shares in 0.03 0.03 0.06 0.09 0.13
issue)
Last share market price of the year
15  /net profit /number of shares at year- 226.47 6.87 18.09 11.82 7.62
end (P / E ratio)
16 Share capital, thousand euros 74,476 74,476 74,476 74,476 74,476
17 Share capital-to-assets ratio 0.50 0.45 0.42 0.39 0.36

Comparison of financial indicators of the Company of the 1 half of the year 2024 with the indicators of the
years 2020-2023 is presented in Table 2.
Table 2

1 half of 1 halfof 1halfof 1halfof 1halfof
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

1 Revenue from sales, thousand euros 25,251 27,098 43,843 51,100 47,504

No Indicator of the Company

2 Profit, thousand euros 77 5,376 3,128 3,746 5411
EBITDA (earnings before interest,

3 taxes, depreciation and amortization 3.776 8.181 6,928 8.501 10,621
and other non-cash expense items),
thousand euros
Profitability of core business, per cent

4 (operating profit / sales and services) * -1.4 8.4 8.7 11.1 12.8
100

5 Net profltablhty, per cent (net profit / 0.3 19.8 71 73 11.4
sales and services) *100

6 Assets, thousand euros 148,949 164,221 177,873 191,012 206,316

7 Equity, thousand euros 89,853 95,209 93,418 96,589 102,134
Return on equity (ROE), per cent

8 (net profit / average equity) *100 0.09 6.05 332 3.94 544
Return on assets (ROA), per cent

9 (net profit / average assets) *100 01 3.4 1.6 1.9 2.6

10 Debt ratio (liabilities /assets) 0.40 0.42 0.29 0.33 0.36

11 Debt-to-equity ratio (liabilities / equity) 0.7 0.7 0.6 0.7 0.7

1o General liquidity ratio (short-term 0.91 1.28 1.63 157 1.42
assets / short-term liabilities)

13 Quickratio ((short-term assets- 0.77 1.14 1.50 1.45 131
inventory) / short-term liabilities)
Net earnings per share (net profit /

14  average weighted number of shares in 0.02 0.04 0.07 0.09 0.13
issue)
Last share market price of the year /

15 net profit / number of shares at year- 555.87 6.57 15.12 12.63 7.75
end (P / E ratio)

16  Share capital, thousand euros 74,476 74,476 74,476 74,476 74,476

17 Share capital-to-assets ratio 0.50 0.45 0.42 0.39 0.36

The more detailed analysis of financial indicators of the Group and the Company is provided in the
Consolidated and Company’s financial statements for the 1 half of the year 2024.
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Preventing corruption

The purpose of the Company's Corruption Prevention Policy is to set out the key principles and requirements
for the prevention of corruption in the Company and its subsidiaries and guidelines for ensuring compliance
with them.

The Company is committed to the highest standards of business ethics and advocates free and fair trade,
open competition and ethical conditions, in accordance with the legislation of the Republic of Lithuania. The
Company adheres to and follows the Kaunas City Municipality Corruption Prevention Action Plan 2023-2025.

Anti-corruption obligations cover the following areas: compliance with legal provisions and standards of
conduct; disclosure of information, transparent accounting; prohibition of influence peddling and bribery;
conflicts of interest; nepotism and cronyism; gifts and hospitality; donations; donations; purchases and sales;
abuse of office/office; selection/evaluation of staff; confidentiality.

Environmental impact on operations

The Company’s performance can be affected by changes in sales turnovers caused by changed heat
demand, which can be caused by consumer investments in the renovation of buildings, heat saving and
rational consumption, average higher of lower outdoor temperature during the heating season, changes in
fuel prices, heat purchase price from IHP.

Company’s reconstructed heat production facilities changing fossil fuel to biofuel will make a serious
competition with their costs of production to IHP, operating in Kaunas.
The dynamics of heat price of the Company in the years 2020-2024 is provided in Chart 5.

Chart 5
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The prices for heat and hot water are calculated and approved according to the Heat Pricing Methodology,
which was approved by the National Energy Regulatory Council on July 8, 2009, by Resolution No. O3-96.
The annual revenue level for heat production and/or supply is determined for a period of 3 to 5 years. In the
case of regulated price services (products), a long-term pricing mechanism is applied in heat pricing, i.e., the
annual revenue level for heat production and/or supply is set for the base period and is adjusted in the
subsequent years by determining the recalculated revenue level for heat production and/or supply.

On 23 February 2024, the National Energy Regulatory Council, by resolution No. O3E-213, unilaterally set
the annual revenue level for heat production and/or supply for AB Kauno Energija for the first year of the
base heat price validity period.

Information related to environmental issues
In carrying out their activities, the Group and the Company seek to prudently use natural resources, install

fewer polluting technologies, and follow the environmental legislation and apply preventive measures to
minimize the negative impact on the environment.

13
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Waste management

The Group and the Company have organized the waste collection, sorting, and disposal of them to waste
managers, i.e., to licensed waste management businesses. In 1 half of the 2024, the Group and the
Company disposed for recycling 1,428.2 tons of various waste (absorbents, filter materials, packages
containing hazardous chemicals or that are contaminated with them, paper and carton, insulation materials
containing asbestos, used tyres, bituminous mixes, batteries and accumulators, fluorescent lamps, concrete,
iron, and steel. The Company successfully transferred 1,133.9 tonnes of production waste ash from the
EzZerelis and Nemunas boiler house and the Petrasitinai power plant to be used as a by-product for the
production of road base mix and fertilization of plantation forests, in accordance with the agreed by-product
plans with the Environmental Protection Agency.

Wastewater management

In accordance with the schedule agreed with the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), the Group and the
Company constantly monitor that the effluent discharges from stationary sources are within the permissible
limits set out in the integrated pollution prevention and control permits.

Air pollution

The measurement laboratory of stationary air pollution sources of the Group and the Company, in
possession with the permit issued by the EPA and following the schedule agreed with EPA, continuously
monitors the emissions to the atmosphere from stationary sources to would not exceed the permissible limits
established in integrated pollution prevention and control permits. Company’s Silkas, EZerélis, Girionys and
Noreikiskés boiler-houses, and starting from 2015 — Inkaras boiler-house and PetrasSitnai power-plant use
biofuel, thus reducing atmospheric pollution.

The comparison of the amount of pollutants emitted into the atmosphere in 2023 from the Company’s
stationary facilities with the amount of the years 2019-2022 is presented in table 3 below.

Table 3
perio_Pariulates,t NUSOSh | Caen SR yarocarbons. o e
2023 56.7076 839.7873 171.0513 22.1036 0.5971 1.5198
2022 51.5130 159.8142 796.3571 60.3571 2.0144 0.3117
2021 72.9579 196.5479 781.2462 158.4375 1.2315 0.2966
2020 98.6841 217.8864 884.9974 102.9845 1.1430 0.2801
2019 86.0888 253.4443 1090.2436 0.2746 1.1978 0.4313

Cyclones for smoke cleaning from particulates are installed in Silkas, EZerélis, Girionys, Noreikigkés, Inkaras
boiler-houses and PetraSitnai power-plant. Their working efficiency is checked every year. The Company is
involved in the greenhouse gas emissions trading system.

8. References and additional explanations

Main financial data of the Group and the Company are provided in the Consolidated and Company’s
Financial Statements of AB Kauno Energija for the 1 half of the year 2024.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union and their interpretations. Standards have been issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and interpretations have been issued by the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee.
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Internal control over consolidated statements

When preparing its consolidated financial statements, the Company combines the itemised financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, by summing up the items of assets, liabilities, equity,
revenue, and expenses. Afterwards, it eliminates the book value of the Company’s investment in the
subsidiary and Company’s share of equity in the subsidiary; amounts on balance sheets, transactions,
income and expenses inside the Group (for this purpose, it prepares a reconciled report of all transactions,
income and expenses for the period); difference in depreciation of contribution in kind measured at market
value as compared to its book value.

For composing of the consolidated financial statements of the Group, the financial statements of the
Company and subsidiaries are composed for the same date.

It's controlled if the accounting policy of the Company and its subsidiaries for accounting of similar
transactions is the same. The subsidiaries’ income and expenses are included into the Consolidated
Financial Statements as of the date of acquisition.

9. Significant events after the end of the reporting period

After the end of the reporting period, there were no significant events other than those disclosed in the financial
statements.

10. Plans and forecasts of activities of the group of companies

As investments allow continual business development and profitability, the aims of the Group’s and the
Company’s investment program for the year 2024is further increase in volumes of heat production and
effectiveness, expansion of heat selling market, through increase of use of biofuel for heat production,
development of heat transmission and distribution increasing safety and reliability, developing services of
maintenance of engineering systems and further improvement of consumers services quality.

In compliance with the provisions of the plan for the facilities on the implementation of the National
Renewable Energy Development Strategy, in order to implement the Company’s key business objectives
and the provisions of the National Energy Independence Strategy related to the assurance of technical
requirements for reliability of heat facilities and heat supply networks, to guarantee the quality keeps apply to
consumers, Kaunas city municipality decided to approve Company’s investment plans with the decision No.
T-165 “Regarding Investment Plans of AB Kauno Energija for the Year 2024 and Their Financing” on April
23, 2024.

In 2024 the implementation of Company’s investment program will involve further modernization of boiler-
houses owned by the Company automating the production process and installing condensational
economizers; reconstruction of heat networks; replacement of heat meters. It's important to notice, that
implementation of these measures will allow to reduce losses of heat transmission and to perform
optimization of heat supply to the consumers and to ensure heat supplies reliability.

11.Information on research and development activities

Company’s representatives are constantly invited to work in committees of preparation of Energy
Engineering studies programs of Kaunas University of Technology and in groups of external and self-
evaluation. Working in these groups and committees Company’s representatives analyse aims of programs
and goals of studies, composition of training plans, appropriateness of staff, material basis, process, and
evaluation of studies, as well as program management. Performing external and self-evaluation, committees
apply recommendations for improvement of program structures and implementation process, to satisfy the
needs of employers and to meet the requirements of national and European legal acts in the field of higher
education.

The company has set a goal to completely eliminate the use of natural gas in heat production with gas
consumption to be halved in the next three years to only 5% of total energy consumption for heat production.
This will increase the use of green heat from biofuels and reduce CO2 emissions, helping to achieve the
Company's long-term goals of supplying more consumers with cheaper biofuel-based heat, reducing CO2
emissions and enabling new customers to connect to the city's heat network.
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Minimising gas consumption will help achieve the Company's long-term goals: to supply more consumers
with cheaper biofuel-based heat through more optimal utilisation of Kaunas Energy's heat production
capacity; reducing emissions of CO2, which contribute to the greenhouse effect; enabling new customers to
connect to the city's heat network.

The Company has implemented another highly efficient air pollution control technology — an electrostatic
filter (ESF). The ESF uses an electrostatic charge to remove solid particles from the gases generated during
combustion. Such filters are used in boiler houses, cement plants, steelworks, and other industrial facilities to
reduce the emission of solid particles harmful to the environment and human health and to neutralise other
harmful pollutants. Upon completing the year-long project at the boiler house, the concentration of solids in
the exhaust will not exceed 20 mg/m3, and the flue gas condensation economiser will not be polluted.

Kaunas is some of the greenest cities in Lithuania, placing a lot of emphasis on seeking and implementing
sustainable solutions. In order to use the green waste generated during the maintenance of city parks,
forests and squares as efficiently as possible, the raw material created after pruning trees and shrubs is
converted into biofuel used to produce city heat. The municipality no longer has to worry about how to collect
that waste, where to transport it and what to do with it. Meanwhile, the company no longer needs to purchase
some of the biofuel; they can produce it themselves. In 2024, while maintaining green areas in Kaunas,
1,271 tons of biofuel were obtained. It was used to produce 2,500 MWh of heat, sufficient to heat and
provide hot water to 6 apartment blocks. This has helped Kaunas residents save EUR 0.08 million a year.

To optimise and enhance the Company’s operations, a new organisational management structure was
approved, and an integrated quality, environmental protection, and occupational health and safety
management system was implemented and certified, meeting the requirements of international standards
ISO 9001:2015, 1ISO 14001:2015, and 1SO 45001:2018. These international standards encourage the
Company to adopt a process-oriented approach, strengthen environmental protection and pollution
prevention, promote good occupational health and safety practices, and maintain a balance with social and
economic needs. The effectiveness of the implemented management systems was evaluated during an audit
by the independent third-party certification body TUV Thiiringen e.V., through its subsidiary in Lithuania, UAB
TUV Uolektis.

In August 2023, the company's festival Transformations took place for the first time, relocating to the historic
PetrasSitinai power station for cultural events. The Company's second festival Transformations will take place
at the end of August 2024. The main focus of the festival will be a night-time transformation of a power
station created by Lithuanian artists.

12. Information on own shares acquired and held by the Issuer

The Company does not hold the shares of its own. The Company’s subsidiaries have not purchased any of
the Company’s shares. Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased or sold own shares during the
reporting period.

13. Information on the aims of financial risk management, hedging instruments in use

All relevant information on this issue is provided in Explanatory Notes to the Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements for the 1 half of the year 2024 of AB Kauno Energija.

14. Information on the Issuer’s subsidiary undertakings

The authorised capital of Company’s subsidiary UAB GO Energy LT registered in the Register of Legal
Entities on June 30, 2024 is 2,762,958 euros and it is divided into 95,406 ordinary registered shares with par
value of 28.96 euros each.

UAB GO Energy LT has no holdings directly or indirectly managed in other companies.

Activities of UAB GO Energy LT include the real estate development, management, leases, purchase, and
sale.

As of June 30, 2024, company UAB GO Energy LT had 28 employees.

Comparison of financial indicators of UAB GO Energy LT for the 1 half of the year 2024 with the indicators of
the 1 half of the years 2020-2023 is provided in Chart 6.
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Chart 6
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15. Structure of authorized capital
The authorised capital of the Company registered in the Register of Legal Entities of the Republic of
Lithuania as of June 30, 2024 is EUR 74,475,728.82 (seventy-four million four hundred seventy-five
thousand seven hundred twenty-eight euros and 82 cents).
Structure of authorized share capital of the Issuer by types of shares is specified in Table 4.
Table 4
Nominal : Municipal share SNENS O prlva.te
Number of Total nominal . . shareholders in
Type of shares shares, units value, value, euros in the authorised the authorised
’ euros ’ capital, per cent i
capital, per cent
Ordinary nominal 5 g4 143 1.74 74,475,728.82 98.33 1.67

shares

16. Data on shares issued by the Issuer

The authorised capital of AB Kauno Energija was registered on May 18, 2015 by the decision of General
Meeting of Shareholders held on April 28, 2015 and amounts to EUR 74,475,728.82 (seventy-four million
four hundred seventy-five thousand seven hundred twenty-eight euros and 82 cents) and it is divided to
42,802,143 (forty-two million eight hundred and two thousand one hundred forty-three) ordinary shares of
par value of 1.74 euros each.

There are no limitations on the transfer of securities.

Main characteristics of shares released into free circulation of securities (as of June 30, 2024).

Securities registration No A01031430

ISON code of securities LT0000123010

Number of shares 20 031 977 ordinary nominal shares
Nominal value EUR 1.74

Total nominal value of shares EUR 34,855,639.98

Main characteristics of shares issued and registered for non-public trading (as of June 30, 2024).
ISON code of securities LT0000128407
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Number of shares 22,770,166 ordinary nominal shares
Nominal value EUR 1.74
Total nominal value of shares EUR 39,620,088.84
History of trade in Company’s securities in the years 2020-2024 is provided in Table 5.
Table 5
Indicator 2020 2021 2022 2023 30-06-2024
Opening price, euro 0.98 0.82 1.11 0.89 0.92
Highest price, euro 1.03 1.19 1.12 1.14 1.1
Lowest price, euro 0.77 0.80 0.76 0.87 0.895
Last price, euro 0.925 1.11 0.89 0.91 0.98
Circulation, units 89,524 147,659 64,193 97,113 55,209
Circulation, million euro 0.07 0.15 0.06 0.09 0.05

Historical data on share prices (in euro) and turnovers in the years 2020-30.06.2024 is provided in Chart 7.

Chart 7

ll----I- 'IIIIIIIII‘IIIII'I_- -.---.III'-II-.-I-III-I o
Jam " Ju Jul "2 z oJul "2} «Ju

20 Jam "2 21 Jam "E2 Jull "EF Jam "2 Jam "24 24

® Prica ® volums

Comparison of Company’s share price with the index of own sector (utility services) and OMX Vilnius index is
given in Chart 8.
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17.

Information on the Issuer’s shareholders
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The number of Company’s shareholders as of June 30, 2024 was 751.

Information on Shareholders of the Issuer who owned more than 5 per cent of the authorised capital of the
Company registered on May 18, 2015 (42,802,143 ordinary nominal shares) as of June 30, 2024 is provided

in Table 6 and Chart 9.

Table 6
Owned Share of votes
Number of ordinary  sharein Share of votes owned by the
Full name of shareholder X .
(company name, type nominal shares the_ carried by sharehold_er
' ' owned by the authorised owned shares. together with
headquartered dress, code) . . . o
shareholder, units  capital, per per cent acting entities,
cent per cent
Kaunas City Municipality
Laisvés al. 96, 44251 Kaunas 39,736,058 92.84 92.84 -
Code 111106319
Other shareholders 3,066,085 7.16 7.16 -
42,802,143 100 100 -

Total:
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m Kaunas city municipality

92.84%

Structure of shareholders as of June 30, 2024
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Chart 9

m Kaunas district municipality

The distribution of the Company’s shareholders by groups at the end of the reporting period is presented in

Table 7.

Table 7

Group

Number of shares
owned by the group,

Available share of
the authorized
capital, per cent of

pcs. the total number of
shares
Local authorities 42 088 631 98.33
Households 500 720 1.17
Other shareholders 212 792 0.50
Total 42 802 143 100

17.1. The shareholders, who owned more than 5 per cent of the shares (20,031,977 ORS) issued for public
trading (reg. No. A01031430, VP ISIN code — LT0000123010) as of June 30, 2024 are listed in Table 8.

Table 8
Total Percentage of Share of
. shares from
Number of nominal the
those .
Name Type of shares shares, value of . authorise
. released into .
units shares, . d capital
the public
euros . . (%)
circulation
Cnts SEE™ onary
Kaunas T registered 16,965,892 29,520,652 84.69 39.64
Code 111106319 shares
Kaunas District Municipality Ordinary
Savanoriy pr. 371, 49500 registered 1,606,168 2,794,732 8.02 3.75
Kaunas, shares
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Percentage of

Total Share of
Number of nominal RG0S WOl the
Name Type of shares shares, value of | those. authorise
units shares ez |_nto d capital
euros, the public (%)
circulation
Code 111100622
Ordinary
shares
Total: 20,031,977 34,855,640 100 46.80

17.2. The shareholders, who owned more than 5 per cent of the shares (22,770,166 ORS) issued for non-
public trading (VP ISIN code — LT0000128407) as of June 30, 2024 are listed in Table 9.

Table 9
Total Percentage of Share of
Tvoe of Number of nominal shares from the
Name sﬁgres shares, value of those released authorise
units shares, into the public  d capital
Euro circulation (%)
Kaunas City Municipality .
o Ordinary
Laisves al. 96, 44251 registered 22,770,166 39,620,089 100 53.20
Kaunas shares

Code 111106319

None of the shareholders of the Issuer holds any special rights of control. The rights of all shareholders are
the same; they are specified in article 4 of the Law on Companies of the Republic of Lithuania. The number
of shares carrying votes at the General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company is 42,802,143 units.

The Company has not been notified on the limitations of voting rights or any other mutual agreements of
shareholders which may limit the transfer of securities and / or voting rights.

In 2020, no dividends from the profit of 2019 were allocated and paid to the Issuer’s shareholders.
In 2021, no dividends from the profit of 2020 were allocated and paid to the Issuer’s shareholders.
In 2022, no dividends from the profit of 2021 were allocated and paid to the Issuer’s shareholders.

In 2023, the dividends from the profit of the year 2022 were allocated and paid to the shareholders of the
Issuer. Dividend per share was 0.07009 euro, in total — 3.0 million euro. A total of 0.05 million euros was
allocated for sponsorship.

In 2024, no dividends from the profit of 2023 were allocated and paid to the Issuer’s shareholders.

18. Employees

368 employees were employed in the Group as of June 30, 2024. Changes in the number of employees of
the Group in year 2020-2024 are provided in Table 10.

Table 10
Actual number of Group Group Group Group Group
employees 31/12/2020  31/12/2021  31/12/2022  31/12/2023  30/06/2024
Total: 365 379 383 372 368
management 3 3 2 2 2

21



AB KAUNO ENERGIJA CONSOLIDATED SEMIANNUAL REPORT OF THE YEAR 2024

Actual number of Group Group Group Group Group
employees 31/12/2020  31/12/2021  31/12/2022  31/12/2023  30/06/2024
specialists 203 212 203 189 203
workers 159 164 178 181 163

Changes in number of employees of the Company in year 2020-2024 are provided in Table 11.

Table 11
Actual number of Company Company Company Company Company
employees 31/12/2020  31/12/2021  31/12/2022  31/12/2023  30/06/2024
Total: 354 350 353 344 340
management 1 1 1 1 1
specialists 200 197 189 178 191
workers 153 152 163 165 148
Education of employees of the Group as at the end of the reporting period.
Table 12
. Group Group Group Group Group
No  Education 31/12/2020  31/12/2021  31/12/2022  31/12/2023 _ 30/06/2024
1 Secondary incomplete 1 1 1 1 1
2  Secondary 124 176 150 140 134
3 College 49 38 34 38 30
4 Higher 191 164 198 193 203
Total: 365 379 383 372 368
Education of employees of the Company as at the end of the reporting period.
Table 13

Company Company Company Company Company

o Isehesion 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2022 31/12/2023  30/06/2024

1 Secondary incomplete 1 1 1 1 1
2 Secondary 121 156 135 125 120
3 College 47 38 34 37 30
4 Higher 185 155 183 181 189
Total: 354 350 353 344 340

Company’s management pays a lot of attention on increase in work efficiency, working conditions
improvement, supply with latest working tools, professional development, planning of internal activities and
control implementation, also for improvement of consumer service quality. Executive and professional
qualification levels suit their positions, and work experience and practical knowledge of subject of other
employees makes them possible to work in their positions.
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To increase work efficiency, the Company conducts an annual work performance evaluation of structural
units’ managers, the main goal of which is to evaluate the employee’s qualifications and abilities of functions
performance assigned in job regulations, to properly evaluate employees' activities, provide feedback on the
goals execution in order to increase employee loyalty, satisfaction with conducted work, encouraging them to
improve. The result of this process is information allowing better coordination of the Company's activities and
for encouraging employees to improve their working activities.

The Company actively cooperates with educational institutions and enables high school students to apply
theoretical knowledge and gain practical skills. When there is a need for new employees, the most active and
best students are given the opportunity to get a job in the Company.

The salary of employees of the Issuer consists of the constant part of salary, variable part of salary, benefits
and allocations paid according to the Labour Code of the Republic of Lithuania and other laws, Collective
agreement of the Company, and bonuses. Bonuses are paid from net profit, if the General Meeting of
Shareholders allocates part of the profit for the bonuses of the Company employees.

The collective agreement provides for special rights and obligations of the issuer's employees or part of
them. In accordance with the Company's new Collective agreement effective from 1 January 2019 and
subsequent amendments there to:

1. For continuous employment within the Company employees are granted additional paid leave.

2. The record of service of employees who worked in Lithuanian energy system companies and who
were redeployed to the Company according to the corporate employer agreement, i.e., when the transfer
was carried out according to the Labour Code or the Law on Employment Contract, is considered
uninterrupted and those employees are granted an additional paid leave for an uninterrupted record of
service within the Company.

3. At the agreement of the employer and employee, the employee may be granted unpaid leave for
family related issues and other important reasons.

4. Company’s employees are entitled to additional paid leave.

The employer obligates:

1. To ensure the conditions of preventive health check and, if necessary, to provide free health services
at the Company’s occupational health unit.

2. In the event of the death of an employee, the Company grants a benefit in the amount of 4 minimum
monthly salaries of the Republic of Lithuania (hereinafter referred to as the MMS), free transport, or covers
transport costs (the benefit is granted to the person burying the deceased);

3. In the event of the death of the employee's close relative (parent (adoptive parent), child (adoptive
child) or spouse), the Company grants the employee an MMS benefit, free transport or covers transport
costs;

4. In the event of the birth of one or more children, the Company grants the employee a gift in the
amount of 50 per cent MMS for each child;

5. Upon registration of the marriage, the employee is granted a gift in the amount of 50 per cent MMS;

6. A cash gift of EUR 50 is granted when an employee reaches the age of 25, 35, 45, 55, 65, and a
cash gift of EUR 100 when the employee reaches the age of 20, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70;

7. In other cases, when the employee needs financial support (in case of losses due to natural disasters
and other reasons beyond the control of the employee), the Company grants a benefit of up to 3 MMS;

8. In the event of a serious illness or accident, a benefit of up to 5 MMS is granted. The sickness benefit
is paid once a year (within 12 months).

19. Procedure for amending the Issuer’s Statutes

The Statutes of the Issuer say that the General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company has the exceptional
right to amend the Statutes other than the exceptions provided in the Law on Companies of the Republic of
Lithuania. The resolution on the amendment of the Company’s Statutes 2/3 qualified majority of votes of the
members participating in the meeting of shareholders is needed.

The Statutes of the Company were amended on August 10, 2023 by the decision of the General Meeting of

Shareholders. The new wording of the Statutes was registered on August 28, 2023 in the Register of Legal
Entities of the Republic of Lithuania. It can be found on Company’s website at www.kaunoenergija.It.
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20. Issuer’s management bodies

According to the Statutes of the Company, the management bodies of the Company include the General
Meeting of Shareholders, a collegial management body — the Supervisory Board, a collegial management
body — the Management Board, and a sole management body — General Director.

General
Meeting of
Shareholders

General
Director

Supervisory
Board

Management
Board

Decisions of the General Meeting of Shareholders made on the issues within the competence of the General
Meeting of Shareholders provided for in the Statutes of the Company are binding to its shareholders, the
Supervisory Board, the Management Board, and the General Director, and to other employees of the
Company.

All persons who are the shareholders of the Company on the date of the General Meeting of Shareholders
have the right to attend the Company’s General Meeting of Shareholders personally or by proxy or be
represented by persons with whom they had entered into the agreement on the transfer of the voting right.
The record date of the meeting of the Company is the fifth working day before the General Meeting of
Shareholders or the fifth working day before the repeat General Meeting of Shareholders. A person attending
the General Meeting and entitled to vote shall provide a document which is a proof of his personal identity
and sign the registration list of the Meeting of Shareholders. A person who is not a shareholder shall
additionally provide a document attesting to his right to vote at the General Meeting of Shareholders.

2 (two) General Meeting of Shareholders were convoked in the 1 half of the year 2024. Company’s General
Manager and the Chief Finance Officer attended them. Issuers’ shareholders can ask questions and can get
answers or explanations from Company’s managers and speakers.

The collegial management body — Supervisory Board is elected by the General Meeting of Shareholders
according to the procedure specified in the Law on Companies of the Republic of Lithuania. The Supervisory
Board consists of 3 (three) members. The Supervisory Board is elected for a term of 4 (four) years. The
Supervisory Board elects the chairman of the Supervisory Board from among its members. The General
Meeting of shareholders may remove from office the entire Supervisory Board or its individual members
before the expiry of the term of office of the Supervisory Board. Where individual members of the
Supervisory Board are elected, they shall be elected only until the expiry of the term of office of the current
Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board elects and dismisses the Management Board members and supervises the activities
of the Board and the General manager of the Company; submits its comments and proposals to the General
Meeting of Shareholders on the Company’s operating strategy, set of annual financial statements, draft of
profit / loss allocation and the annual report of the Company as well as the activities of the Board and the
General Manager of the Company; submits proposals to the Board and the General Manager of the
Company to revoke their decisions which are in conflict with laws and other legal acts, the statutes of the
Company or decisions of the General Meeting of Shareholders; addresses other issues assigned to the
scope of powers of the Supervisory Board by decisions of the General Meeting of Shareholders regarding
the supervision of the activities of the Company and its management bodies. The Supervisory Board shall
not be entitled to assign or delegate the functions assigned to the scope of its powers by the Law on
Companies of the Republic of Lithuania and the statutes of the Company to other bodies of the Company.

The Supervisory Board, following the resolution No. 1K-18 of August 21, 2008 of the Securities Commission
of the Republic of Lithuania “Regarding The Requirements For Audit Committees”, as well as “Guidelines For
The Application Of Requirements For Audit Committees” which were approved by the decision of the
Securities Commission of November 28, 2008 approves the internal rules of procedure for forming the Audit
Committee and elects the Audit Committee members.

The Supervisory Board of the Company approved on May 21, 2019 a new wording of the internal rules of
procedure of the Audit Committee of the Company.

The Management Board is a collegial management body of the Company. The Management Board is

comprised of 3 (three) members. The Management Board is elected for the period of 4 (four) years by the
Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board can remove from office the entire Management Board or its
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individual members before the expiry of their term. If individual members of the Management Board are
elected, they shall serve only until the expiry of the term of office of the current Management Board. The
Management Board elects the chairman of the management Board from among its members.

The General Manager is the manager of the Company. The manager of the Company is a sole person
management body of the Company organising its activities. Authority and responsibilities of the
administration members of the Company are established by the order of the General Manager.

20.1. Data on the committees in the Company

The members of Audit Committee appointed by the decision No. 2023-4 of the Supervisory Board of October
13, 2023:

Full name Position Beginning of term End of term*

Mr. Mindaugas Simkus Indepe.ndent member of Audit October 13, 2023 April 26, 2027
Committee

Ms. Vl|oIeta_ _ Indepe_ndent member of Audit October 13, 2023 April 26, 2027
Kavaliauskiené Committee

Ms. Edita Girdviliené Member of Audit Committee October 13, 2023 April 26, 2027

* The term of office of the Audit Committee coincides with the term of office of the Supervisory Board of the
Company.

In carrying out its activities, the Audit Committee follows the internal rules of procedure of the Company’s
Audit Committee approved by decision No 2019-4 of May 21, 2019 of the meeting of the Supervisory Board
of the Company. The Audit Committee performs its functions provided for in article 52 of the Law on Audit of
the Republic of Lithuania.

20.2. Information on the members of the Company’s Supervisory Board:

Members of the Supervisory Board of the Company:

Full name Position Beginning of term End of term
Mr. Antanas Etneris gg::gma” of the Supervisory June 29, 2023 April 26, 2027
Mr. Mindaugas Bi¢kauskas =~ Member of the Supervisory Board June 29, 2023 April 26, 2027
Ms. Jolanta Brazaitiené Member of the Supervisory Board April 1, 2024 April 26, 2027

Company’s Supervisory Board comprised of two independent members and of one member of Kaunas City
Municipality administration, as he partially represents the controlling shareholder, i.e., Kaunas City
Municipality, holding 92.84 per cent of the Company’s voting shares.

1 session of the Supervisory Board was held during 1 half of the year 2024. More than %2 of the members of
the Supervisory Board attended all sessions.

Mr. Antanas Etneris

Mr Antanas Etneris, main occupation - director of UAB Wisewood (code 302527538, Ringuvos str. 74, LT-
45245 Kaunas), director of UAB Mana Grupé (code 303991865, Kruonio str. 16, Kaunas), director of UAB
Airhotel (code 302598948, Oro Uosto str. 2, Karmélava, LT-54460 Kaunas distr.), member of the Board of
UAB Stoties Turgus, member of the Board of UAB Kauno Vandenys.

Holds no shares of the company. Holds the shares of the companies UAB Wisewood, UAB Mana Ranga,
UAB Mana Grupé, UAB Airhotel, UAB Dramart, UAB Ukraineiciy 4, UAB Véjo Dukra, UAB Plétros Fondas,
UAB Aguony Projektai, LLC My Group.

During the reporting period, the member of the Supervisory Board was remunerated EUR 21.2 thousand.
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Mr. Mindaugas Bi¢kauskas

Main occupation - Director of UAB Urbo bankas Vilnius branch (code 112027077, Paménkalnio str. 40, LT-
01114 Vilnius). .

Holds no shares of the company. Holds the shares of the companies AB Siauliy bankas, AB Apranga, AB
Linas Agro, AB Vilky$kiy pieniné, AB Litgrid.

During the reporting period, the member of the Supervisory Board was remunerated EUR 15.9 thousand.
Jolanta Brazaitiené

During the reporting period, the member of the Supervisory Board was remunerated EUR 5.4 thousand.
20.3. Information on the members of the Company’s Management Board

Members of Company’s Management Board:

Full name Position Beginning of term End of term
Nerijus Mordas Chairman of the Management Board July 13, 2023 April 26, 2027
Algimantas Stasys Anuzis Member of the Management Board July 13, 2023 April 26, 2027
Giedrius Kazlauskas Member of the Management Board July 13, 2023 April 26, 2027

12 sessions of Company’s Management Board were held in the year 2023. More than 2/3 members of the
Management Board attended all the sessions.

Mr. Nerijus Mordas

Chief finance officer of UAB Vicitiny Grupé (code 303211678, V. Krévés av. 97, LT-50369 Kaunas). Member
of Company’s Management Board since June 1, 2015 until April 27, 2023 and since July 13, 2023.

Holds no shares of the Company. No interest in the capital of other Lithuanian companies.

Mr. Nerijus Mordas charged EUR 20.9 thousand of remuneration under agreement of activity of member of
the Management Board. No bonuses estimated, nor any assets were transferred or guarantees issued
during the reporting period.

Mr. Algimantas Stasys Anuzis

Member of the Council of Kaunas Chamber of Commerce, Industry and Crafts, president of Lithuanian
Veterans Basketball League.

Member of Company’s Management Board since June 1, 2015 until April 27, 2023 and since July 13, 2023.
Holds no shares of the Company. No interest in the capital of other Lithuanian companies.

Mr. Algimantas Stasys AnuZis charged EUR 15.6 thousand of remuneration under agreement of activity of
member of the Management Board. No bonuses estimated, nor any assets were transferred or guarantees
issued during the reporting period.

Giedrius Kazlauskas

UAB ,Laustiga“ (code 135456025, UkrainieCiy str. 4, LT-45234 Kaunas).

Member of Company’s Management Board since July 13, 2023.

Holds no shares of the Company. No interest in the capital of other Lithuanian companies.

Mr. Giedrius Kazlauskas charged EUR 15,6 thousand of remuneration under agreement of activity of
member of the Management Board. No bonuses estimated, nor any assets were transferred or guarantees
issued during the reporting period.

20.4. Information on the General Manager and Chief accountant of the Company:

Mr. Tomas Garasimavi€ius

General Director of the Company from March 30, 2020. Education - higher university, Vilnius University in
2003, Bachelor of Political Science, Vilnius University in 2005, Master of Political Science, Creighton

University, USA 2005, Master of Political Science. Workplaces during the last 10 years and positions: Head
of the Sustainable Energy Development Division of Energetikos Agentara, Pl (June 2010 — December 2012),
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Adviser to the Prime Minister of the Republic of Lithuania on Energy (December 2012 — December 2016),
Member of the Supervisory Board of UAB Lietuvos Energija (July 2013 — July 2017), Member of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Supervisory Board of UAB Lietuvos Energija (July 2013 —
July 2017), Member of the Risk Management Supervisory Committee of the Supervisory Board of UAB
Lietuvos Energija (September 2013 — July 2017), Member of the Support Fund Council of UAB Lietuvos
Energija (September 2014 — September 2017), Adviser to the Prime Minister of the Republic of Lithuania on
Energy and the Environment (January 2017 — March 2018), Adviser to the Mayor of Kaunas city on Energy
(June 2018 — March 2020).

Holds no shares of the Company. No interest in the capital of other companies.

Ramuné Petkeviciené

Chief Accountant of the Company from 2 May 2024. Education — higher university degree, Vilnius University,
Master's degree in Accounting, finance and banking. Workplaces in the last 10 years, and job positions:
Hoptrans Holding, UAB Chief Accountant 2013-2024 y.

Company’s General Manager and the Chief Accountant charged 92.2 thousand euros of remuneration in the
1 half of the year 2024, and the average amount per member is 46.1 thousand euros. No other assets had
been transferred; no guarantees granted.

21. Information on significant agreements

There are no significant agreements that would come into force, change or termination in case of change in
controls of Issuer (their impact as well, except cases when due to the character of agreements the disclosure
of them would make a significant harm).

22. Information on agreements of the Issuer and its managerial body members or
employees

There are no agreements of the Issuer or its managerial body members or employees (which provide for
compensation in case of their resignation or termination of employment on no grounds or in case their
employment is terminated due to changes in controls of the Issuer).

23. Information on major transactions with related parties

There were no larger individual transactions. More detailed information is provided in the Note 25 of the
Explanatory Notes to the Financial Statements.

24. Information on harmful transactions concluded on behalf of the Issuer during the
reporting period

There are no harmful transactions concluded on behalf of the Issuer during the reporting period (not
complying with the Company's objectives, normal market conditions, detrimental to the interests of
shareholders and other interest groups etc.) which were or are likely to have an adverse effect on the
Issuer's activities and (or) performance in the future, as well as information on transactions entered into in a
conflict of interest between the Issuer's management, controlling shareholders or other related parties'
obligations to the Issuer and their private interests and (or) other duties.

25. Information on compliance with the Governance Code of Companies and the
Company’s corporate social initiatives and policies

Information on compliance with the corporate governance code is provided in Annex 2 to this Annual Report.
Annual reports on the Company’s corporate social initiatives and policies are announced on the Company’s
website.

26. Data on publicised information

In performing its obligations under the applicable legislation regulating the securities market, the Issuer has
announced the following information starting from January 1, 2024 over the GlobeNewswire news distribution
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service, in which notices are disseminated within the European Union. This information was also posted on
the website of the Issuer. All the information is available on website of Nasdaq Vilnius
(http://www.nasdagbaltic.com/market/?lang=It) and Issuer’s website (http://www.kaunoenergija.lt).

Announcement

Title Language Time
category
Activity results of AB Kauno energija of the 1 quarter of the  Interim EN LT 24/05/2024
year 2024 information ' 16:00
Audited annual information of AB Kauno Energija for the Annual EN. LT 30/04/2024
year 2023 information ' 10:11
Resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders of AB Gene_ral 30/04/2024
.. meeting of EN, LT .
Kauno Energija 10:05
shareholders
. . General
Convocation of General Meeting of Shareholders of AB . 03/04/2024
. meeting of EN, LT .
Kauno Energija 16:00
shareholders
. . . General
Resolutions of the Extraordinary General Meeting of . 30/03/2024
« 2 meeting of EN, LT i
Shareholders of “Kauno Energija” AB 07:55
shareholders
) . . . General
Update: Convening the Extraordinary General Meeting of . 20/03/2024
p i w meeting of EN, LT i
Shareholders of “Kauno Energija” AB 07:54
shareholders
Kauno energija, AB. Regarding information published in the  Notification on 19/03/2024
. : EN, LT .
media material event 10:02
. . . General
Convening the Extraordinary General Meeting of . 08/03/2024
p L meeting of EN, LT i
Shareholders of “Kauno Energija” AB 08:22
shareholders
- Interim 26/02/2024
Activity results of 12 months of the year 2023 information EN, LT 1550
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